
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380136/380184 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 1 February 2022 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
Wednesday, 9 February 2022 at 3.00 pm, 
Ballroom, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Paul Cox, Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP and Joyce Plummer 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PART A: PROCEDURAL AND INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 3 - 12) 
 
To approve the Minutes of the last meeting of Cabinet held on 12th January 2022. 
 

4.   Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups  (Pages 13 - 18) 
 
To receive the minutes of the meetings of the following bodies:- 
 

Name of Body Date of Meeting 

Regeneration and Housing Panel 14th December 2021 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

PART B: PORTFOLIO ITEMS 
 

5.   Reports of Cabinet Members   
 
To receive verbal reports from each of the Portfolio Holders, as appropriate. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Resources (Councillor Joyce Plummer) 
 

6.   Quantity Restrictions - Hackney Carriage Vehicles  (Pages 19 - 44) 
 
Report attached. 
 

7.   Smart Working Strategy  (Pages 45 - 60) 
 
Report attached. 
 

8.   Self-Isolation Pilot Programme - Acceptance of Funding  (Pages 61 - 64) 
 
Report attached. 
 

PART C: EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

Nil 
 
 
 



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox (Vice 

Chair), Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP and Joyce Plummer 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Peter Britcliffe and Michael Miller 

  

 
205 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies were submitted on behalf of Councillor Marlene Haworth, who was a standing 
invitee to the meeting as Leader of the Opposition. 
 

206 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

207 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 8th December 2021 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

208 Urgent Decisions Taken 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decision taken under the urgency procedure: 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio Holder Date of Approval 

(a) Huncoat Garden Village Brownfield 
Land and Infrastructure Fund 

Councillor Loraine 
Cox 

23rd December 2021 

 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder Regeneration and Wellbeing, reported that the 
urgent decision taken had been around the work undertaken in partnership with Homes 
England regarding the Huncoat Garden Village (HGV) Masterplan.  The Council intended to 
bid for monies from the Brownfield Land and Infrastructure Fund.  However, timescales 
were tight.  Accordingly, it was proposed to appoint expert consultants to support the bid. 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, added that Hyndburn’s 
financial contribution to this decision would be £40k, but ultimately it aimed to submit a 
£25M bid.  The HGV Masterplan was a 10 year project with potential for on-going work for 
another 300 homes after the life of the Local Plan. 
 
Councillor Michael Miler, Joint Deputy Leader of the Opposition, asked if the work on HGV 
was outside of the Levelling Up Fund bid.  He also noted that the recently publish Town 
Centre Improvement Plan (TCIP) did not mention the use of the Transport Infrastructure 
Investment Fund. The Leader responded that the HGV project was not part of the Levelling 
Up Fund bid, as other relevant funding was available.  Regarding Transport Infrastructure, a 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

bid would also be submitted by Lancashire County Council.  Hyndburn would be lobbying 
the County Council via Atkins (transport consultants) for local schemes to be included.  
Overall, the case for East Lancashire schemes looked relatively strong. 
 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

209 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
There were no verbal reports provided on this occasion. 
 

210 Council Tax Base - 2022-2023 
 
Members considered a report of Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, 
informing Members of the Council Tax Base for the financial year 2022-2023. 
 
The Leader reminded Members that this was an annual report which effectively determined 
the number of Band D equivalent properties in the Borough for Council Tax purposes for 
the forthcoming year.  Setting the Council Tax Base was a statutory requirement for each 
year and, once approved for 2022-23, the Council would need to notify any precepting 
authorities.  When determined, the figure enabled the relevant authorities to make the 
necessary budget calculations to set their Council Tax levels for 2022-23. 
 
Housing growth was important in Hyndburn, as increasing the number of high value 
properties should increase the Council Tax Base in the future. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
In accordance with Section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, the Council was 
required to formally determine the Council Tax Base for 2022-2023 prior to 31st January 
2022.  This allowed the Council to notify the major preceptors (Lancashire County Council, 
the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire and Lancashire Combined Fire 
Authority) by the 31st January of the Council Tax Base. 
 
The requisite calculation had to be carried out in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012.  Once determined the Council Tax 
Base could not be changed and had to be used when the Council set its Council Tax for the 
financial year 2022-2023.  
 
The detailed calculation of the Tax Base for Hyndburn and Altham for 2022-2023 was 
provide in the Appendices to the report.  It was proposed that the Tax Base for Hyndburn 
2022-2023 should be 21,050.  This was an increase of 811 from last year’s Tax Base 
(20,239).  The 2022-2023 Tax Base for Altham was 310, which was an increase of 6 from 
last year’s Tax Base (304). 
 
The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012 specified 
formulae for calculating the Council Tax Base which had to be set between the 1st 
December 2021 and the 31st January 2022. 
 
The Council Tax Base was the measure of the number of chargeable dwellings held on the 
valuation list as at the 13 September 2021 and then adjusted to take account of discounts, 
exemptions, re-bandings and Council Tax Support to arrive at the Authority’s Council Tax 
Band D. 
 

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
3 

There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 

 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet approves the report 

 

(2) That in accordance with the Local Authorities 

(Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 2012, the 

amount shall be 21,050. 

 
(3) That in accordance with the Local Authorities 

(Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 2012, the 
amount calculated by the Council for its Council Tax 
Base for the parish of Altham for the financial year 
2022-2023 shall be 310. 

 
211 Prudential Indicators Monitoring and Treasury Management Strategy Update 

 
Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, 
which provided an update on activities regarding Prudential Indicators Monitoring and the 
Treasury Management Strategy since the start of this financial year. 
 
Councillor Plummer outlined some key elements of the report.  The overall strategy had 
been set by Council at its Budget Meeting in February 2021.  The report was a technical 
document which provided an update on Prudential Indicators and set out progress on 
Treasury Management issues.  The overall projected outturn for 2021/22 showed over-
borrowing of £1,091k, which was in accordance with the original estimate.  The Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR) had been affected by a change in the methodology for the 
calculation around contract hire leases in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standard 16 (IFRS16).  More detailed information was provided in the Tables set out in the 
Appendix to the report. 
 
Councillor Britcliffe, Joint Deputy Leader of the Opposition, enquired about whether the 
Council had used all of its £2M Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) allocation.  He also reported 
that there was a waiting list for DFG works.  Mark Hoyle Head of Regeneration and Housing 
responded that the Authority was currently spending at around £1.1M per year and keeping 
on top of expenditure.  Any unused grant could be rolled forward and had been done as 
necessary.  The waiting list for works had been caused, in part, by COVID-19, with some 
vulnerable people not wanting workers in their homes and in some cases due to supply 
issues.  The Council was trying to maximise DFG spending, as far as possible.  Further 
details could be provided outside of the meeting. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP, reported that he was aware of some cases where people 
had been unwilling to leave their home during the pandemic to allow works to proceed.  He 
also noted that supplier issues could affect specialist equipment providers in particular.  
Overall, he was very pleased with dedication and experience of Council staff who dealt with 
DFG applications.  The adaptations and equipment made a big difference to people’s 
quality of life. 
 
Councillor Plummer commented that she was aware of some delays in relation to the 
installation of stairlifts by Stannah.  Mr Hoyle acknowledged that there had been some 
delays, but generally the firm was a reliable and quality provider.  The work used to be 
contracted through Lancashire County Council, but now Hyndburn contacted for this work 
directly. 
 

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Councillor Miller reminded Members that he had previously called-in to Overview and 
Scrutiny a decision to fund a respite centre using DFG funding, to consider whether the 
expenditure was lawful.  The funding needed to be used to keep people in their own homes.  
He asked if the sum had now been taken from the Council’s grant allocation.  Mr Hoyle 
responded that the money had not yet been called upon, but remained committed for that 
purpose.  The Chair added that respite care effectively did keep people in their own homes 
by supporting those who provided care and was a legitimate use of this funding. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities required the Council to set 
Prudential Indicators annually for the forthcoming three years to demonstrate that the 
Council’s capital investment plans were affordable, prudent and sustainable.  The Council 
had adopted its current Prudential Indicators at its meeting in February 2021. 
 
The Prudential Code required the Council, having agreed at least a minimum number of 
mandatory prudential indicators (including limits and statements), to monitor them - in a 
locally determined format and frequency.  This half-year report to Cabinet complemented a 
more regular review by the Deputy Chief Executive. 
 
The indicators were purely for internal use and were not designed to be used as 
comparators between authorities.   If it should be necessary to revise any of the indicators 
during the year, the Deputy Chief Executive would report and advise the Council further. 
 
‘Treasury Management’   related to the borrowing and cash activities of the authority, and 
the effective management of any associated risks.  On 25th February 2021, in the same 
report referred to above, the Council had also set out and then approved its current 
Treasury Management Strategy.  This was in accordance with the CIPFA (Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy) code of practice on treasury management in 
public services, the Council having previously adopted, via Cabinet, the then revised code 
of practice.  Associated treasury management Prudential Indicators were included in the 
February 2021 report. 
 
Prudential Indicators Monitoring  
 
Table 1 and Table 2 of Appendix 1 showed the monitoring information for each of the 
prudential indicators, limits and statements.   They related to: 
 

 External debt overall limits – Table 1    

 Affordability   (eg implications for Council Tax) – Table 2 

 Prudence and sustainability  (eg implications for external borrowing) 

 Capital expenditure  

 Other particular indicators for Treasury Management.   

 
Treasury Management Update 
 
The current Treasury position was as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
5 

 

 
Portfolio Position 2021/22 
 

Original 
Estimate 
2021/22 
£000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2021/22 
£000 

External Debt 
Debt at 1st April 
Expected Change in Debt 
Other Long Term Liabilities 

 
9,595 
- 
362 

 
9,595 
- 
942 

Gross Debt at 31st March 9,957 10,537 

Capital Financing Requirement  (CFR) 8,866 9,446 

Under / (over) borrowing (1,091) (1,091) 

 
TOTAL INVESTMENTS (other than short-term) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Within the prudential indicators there were a number of key indicators to ensure that the 
Council operated its activities within well-defined limits.  In general, the requirement was 
that CFR exceeded Gross Debt.  However in 2021/22 the gross debt would exceed CFR.  
This was due to the annual payment of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  Other 
Liabilities reflected the transfer of contract hire leases to balance sheet to comply with 
IFRS16. 
 
The requirement to have CFR exceed Gross Debt centred around providing an assurance 
that borrowing was not taking place for Revenue purposes.  However, as the Council was 
not borrowing additional funds at this time, this was not an issue.  
 
The current position of the treasury function, and its expected change in the future, 
introduced risk to the Council from an adverse movement in interest rates.  The Prudential 
Code was constructed on the basis of affordability, part of which was related to borrowing 
costs and investment returns. 
 
The Capital Programme 2021/22 would be funded by the use of Government Grants 
(including New Homes Bonus Grant and S31 Grants) and other external financing.  It would 
also be supported during the year by greater use of internal sources of capital finance 
(including capital receipts reserve) because of the reduced level of external grant allocation.  
It was not anticipated currently that any capital borrowing would be required. 
 
Expected movement in interest rates 
 
The Council had appointed Link Asset Services as treasury adviser to the Council and part 
of their service was to assist the Council in formulating a view on interest rates.  The report 
included a Table giving Link’s latest available view of the expected future movement in 
interest rates, from quarter ending 30th September 2021 (their Qtr3 2020) onwards. 
 
In the forecasts there was a high level of uncertainty – due to the difficulties of forecasting 
the timing and amounts of ‘quantitative easing’ injected into the economy, and also the 
uncertainties around Brexit. 
 
The Council’s exposure to interest rate movements was largely neutralised currently as its 
borrowings were effectively at a fixed rate until a trigger point was reached, where the 
lender believed a better rate could be achieved elsewhere.  Interest rates would have to 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
6 

exceed 4% and possibly 5% before this was likely to happen.  The Table set out in the 
report indicated that this was unlikely to happen until beyond 2023 at the earliest. 
 
The Council had invested relatively small amounts of surplus cash on a short-term, 
temporary basis.  The interest received from these investments was below the budgeted 
expectations for the six months to 30 September, mainly due to lower interest rates plus the 
impact of covid19 on surplus cash available for short term investment.  The authority’s 
strategy continued to focus on the security of deposits and the liquidity of funds. 
 
The Council continued to invest surplus cash in the top rated financial institutions.  The 
authority continued to spread its money around a number of institutions to ensure that it 
was not potentially damaged by the unforeseen collapse of any one bank.  Deposits were 
also held with banks where the Council believed that the respective governments were 
likely to be able to guarantee deposits in the event of bank failure.  This strategy was 
continuing to yield an appropriate rate of return, though at a lower rate, as there was less 
risk attached to those deposits.  The Council also operated a policy of holding no more than 
£2m in any one bank (with the exception of the liquidity account held with Nat West Bank 
where the limit was £3m) to ensure that the risk was spread.   
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - To note the report. 
 

212 Capital Spend Report 2021/22 
 
Members consider a report of Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, 
informing the Cabinet of the progress on the 2021/22 Capital Programme. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted the main issues contained within the report. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The Council had approved its Capital Programme for 2021/22 at its meeting on the 25th 
February 2021. 
 
The total value of the spend authorised in the budget in February 2021 was £2.31m and 
this had been increased to £10.78m with carry forward projects from the previous year and 
new in-year authorisations.  The current predicted spend against Budget was £8.01m.  The 
programme had been determined in line with previous decisions to fund capital expenditure 
from existing resources and to avoid borrowing to finance capital expenditure.  It was 
expected that a small positive variance against Budget would be achieved by the end of the 
year. 
 
The significant elements of the programme were as follows,  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Programme Area Committed 
Expenditure 

  
Transitional Housing Programme 
 

£993,762 
 

Housing Improvement Programme  
(including Disabled Facility Grants) 
 

£2,305,907 
 

  
Other Projects £7,483,403 
Total £ 10,783,072 

 
 
Spend to date had been £2.4m which was equivalent to 22% of the overall programme 
budget.  There were 60 individual projects underway across the Council at this time.   
 
The predicted spend against these capital projects is just over £8m, with an estimate of 
£2.7m of likely spend slipped into the next financial year.  Only 2 projects were indicating a 
negative variance at this moment in time and the overall additional costs from these 2 
projects was expected to be less than £7,000.  Predicted savings on other projects 
outweighed the overspend here and overall the current expectation was that a surplus of 
around £25,000 would be generated from current activities. 
 
The details of individual project budgets and expected costs to complete the projects was 
provided in the Appendix to the report. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - To note the report. 
 

213 Exclusion of the Public 
 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
214 Urgent Decisions Taken 

 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decision taken under the urgency procedure: 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio Holder Date of Approval 

(a) Procurement of Software Services 
for Planning Applications Online 

Councillor Miles 
Parkinson OBE 

1st December 2021 

 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
8 

  
The Leader of the Council reminded Members that there had been some issues with the 
on-line Planning system, which had made it difficult for members of the public to search for 
individual applications.  Some alterations had been made to the web-based instructions for 
usage of the system which had helped, but ultimately a new system had been required, 
hence the reason for urgency. 
 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe mentioned that members of the public trying to contact the 
Planning Service by telephone had also experienced some difficulty.  In particular, there 
had been long waiting times on hold, such that customers had given up before their call had 
been answered.  It was understood that the issue lay with the Contact Centre, rather than 
Planning Team.  He queried whether this was due to an equipment issue or due to a 
shortage of staff.  The Leader responded that, at one time, Planning Officers had limited the 
time available to take telephone queries in order to progress their work, but this restriction 
was no longer in operation.  Jane Ellis, Executive Director Legal and Democratic Services, 
indicated that advice had been issued to back office staff about contactability when working 
from home, such as using the answerphone system.  Data was available for the Contact 
Centre on customer waiting times.  Joe McIntyre, Deputy Chief Executive, commented that 
telephone waiting times had returned to normal levels following some peaks during the 
pandemic.  The Leader indicated that it would be useful to review the Contact Centre data. 
 
Councillor Michael Miller asked if the new Planning on-line search software would allow 
planning documents to be viewed easily on most ICT devices used by the public.  It might 
be necessary to provide advice on the webpage as to which browsers were supported by 
the new system.  Ms Ellis agreed to raise the matter with the Head of Planning and 
Transportation.  Mr Hoyle commented that numerous documents uploaded to the Planning 
Service’s document management system were provided by third party organisations, which 
meant that quality and accessibility varied. 
 
Councillor Plummer asked when the new system would be available.  Ms Ellis indicated that 
the installation would take some time.  This was likely to be around 3 months after the date 
of placing the order. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
9 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
REGENERATION AND HOUSING PANEL 

 

 
Tuesday, 14th December, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair), Councillors June Harrison, 

Marlene Haworth, Caroline Montague, Joyce Plummer and Dave Parkins 
 

Apologies Mohammad Ayub 

  

 
88 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Ayub.  There were no 
substitutions. 
 

89 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no interests declared at the meeting. 
 

90 Minutes of Last Meeting held on 9th March 2020 
 
The minutes of the last meeting of the Regeneration and Housing Panel held on 9th March 
2020 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Agreed - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

91 Huncoat Garden Village 
 
The Housing Strategy and Policy Manager submitted a report to update Members of the 
Panel on progress with the Huncoat Garden Village project.   
 
The Head of Housing & Regeneration reported that the masterplan framework and strategy 
had been approved by Cabinet on 20th October 2021.  He outlined the key components of 
the masterplan as set out in the report, which included the promotion of over 1500 new 
homes and a new relief road linking Huncoat Village with the A56 highlighting that the new 
road had to be constructed once 400 new homes had been constructed.  He also explained 
that there would be provision to expand Huncoat Junior School (subject to discussions with 
Lancashire County Council and the school).  He pointed out that they were working with 
Homes England to secure funding to support key infrastructure, such as the relief road, and 
the Council had been asked to contribute £40k to make a business case for the relief road, 
with Homes England contributing £115k.   
 
Members of the meeting requested further information on the following issues: 

 The effect of new planning applications on the project, particularly for the former 
Power Station site of 450 houses 

 The low number of bungalows planned for 

 Concern that the current infrastructure would not be adequate if funding could not 
be found for a new relief road 

 A need to ensure that the current residents of Huncoat did not suffer due to a lack of 
thought around planning and timescales 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 Extending school size would increase road traffic on Lower Gate Road and in the 
surrounding areas 

 The infrastructure of the current school was not adequate to take an increase in 
demand and a new school would be required 

 Consideration should also be given to increasing education capacity for older 
children 
 

The Head of Regeneration and Planning responded that: 

 The masterplan promoted key components including a relief road which would be 
required for any new housing development once approximately 400 new homes had 
been constructed.  This would be funded by Government assistance or from 
contributions from Section 106 Agreements.   

 The masterplan did not illustrate any specific house types.  House types would be 
addressed and considered as part of planning applications.  A minimum number of 
bungalows could be expected as set out in the local plan.    

 Timescales were difficult to predict, in respect of when a new relief road would be 
triggered, but Planning Officers would work with developers.  He indicated that it 
would be late Summer/Autumn before they knew if Government funding had been 
provided for a new road and the submission of outline planning applications would 
make direction clearer.   

 Discussions were ongoing in respect of agreeing an extension to the school but it 
was the aim to discourage use of cars although draft plans for the school had 
included an extension to car parking to relieve parking on the highway. 

 If work on expanding the current Primary school was not successful then the 
masterplan was sufficiently flexible to allow a new Primary school. 

 Lancashire County Council had indicated that there was sufficient school provision 
for an increase in older children in Hyndburn. 
 

Agreed  - That the report be noted. 
 

92 New Housing Development 
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing provided a report to update Members on major 
residential developments and opportunities across the borough of Hyndburn.  He reported 
on major housing sites across the borough with 738 new homes currently under 
construction of which 496 were open market sales and 242 were affordable houses.  He 
outlined a number of key housing sites allocated for development in the near future and 
pointed out that shared ownership properties were very popular. 
 
Agreed  - That the report be noted. 
 

93 Housing Needs and Homelessness 
 
The Housing Strategy and Policy Manager, Chris Gregory, submitted a report to provide an 
overview of housing needs and homelessness in the Borough.   
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing referred to the data set out in the report relating to 
housing needs and the implementation of the new B with us Allocation Policy.  It gave 
information on housing need, the number of active cases and demand for specific property 
type.  It was anticipated that demand for social housing would rise significantly due to the 
coronavirus crisis.  He also referred the number of Afghan families to the resettled in 
Hyndburn and a slow social housing turnover impacting the process and timescale.   
 

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
3 

He reported that most homeless cases were dealt with upon presentation but referred to the 
complexity of housing supply and suitable vacancies to meet housing needs.  He explained 
that there were challenges to increase affordable housing supply whilst securing access to 
the private rented sector for some households in housing need. The challenges, as set out 
in the report, were as follows: 

 Securing more private rented sector accommodation 

 Working more collaboratively to secure support from agencies, particularly those 
who can help with mental health and substance misuse. 

 Continue to develop the housing and support offer to ensure it meets current and 
future needs. 
 

Members requested further information or consideration of the following issues: 
o Concern that some homeless people were not being rehoused in appropriate 

settings causing distress to other residents. 
o That rates were being paid on empty properties? 
o The importance of preventing areas from falling into a downward spital by enforcing 

sales of empty properties. 
 

The Head of Regeneration and Housing reported that he would speak to Onward Homes 
and other relevant organisations with regards to the problems being caused by the 
rehousing of some vulnerable tenants and their behaviour, as raised at the meeting.  He 
explained that the report had indicated that there was a solution to bring some properties 
back into private sector use (for those considered as long term empty – over 6 months).  He 
reported that Hyndburn did have a lot of empty properties but the Council had also carried 
out a lot of hard work to bring empty properties back into use.  He referred to the 
importance of the private sector in meeting housing needs in the borough.  He indicated 
that a report on Enforced Sales of Properties could be brought back to a future meeting of 
the Regeneration and Housing Panel.    
 
Agreed   (1)  That the report be noted; 

                              (2) That a report on ‘Enforced Sales of Properties’ 
be     brought back to a future meeting. 

 
94 Environmental Protection 

 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing and the Interim Environmental Protection Manager 
submitted a report to provide an update and overview on the work and service requests for 
the Council’s Environmental Protection service.  
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing referred to the services provide by the Section and 
gave details of what they did.  He pointed out that noise nuisance received the largest 
number of complaints and this had increased since the Coronavirus outbreak.  An 
additional Officer had been appointed to deal with noise nuisance on a two year contract.  
Housing complaints accounted for approximately 25% of all complaints with housing 
disrepair being the biggest single request for service.  He referred to the disrepair of the 
Waterside Apartments and action being taken to remedy this and to environmental crime 
and liaising with external agencies to deal with complex cases.  He informed the Panel that 
the Service was struggling to recruit professionally qualified and experienced environmental 
health officers and therefore a number of posts were being covered through staff from 
employment agencies on a temporary basis, until a staffing review was completed and 
implemented by early 2022.  Despite these challenges the Team were working and 
performing well. 
 
Members provided the following information: 
 

Page 15



 
 
 

 

 
4 

o Requested an update on a HMO at 184 Avenue Parade (terraced house) in respect 
of a room size being inadequate. 

o A need for there to be clear information about how scrap metal licences could be 
used and especially to inform people that separate licences were needed in each 
borough.   

o Who was able to report a property in bad condition? 
o Concern about the condition of additional properties owned by a landlord of a 

property already found to be a poor and dangerous condition on Nuttall Street.  
Officers were asked if they could check the condition of the landlord’s other 
properties.   

o Reference was made to a case relating to scrap metal trading with no appropriate 
licences at the bottom of Bolton Avenue, Huncoat.  External agencies had been 
involved by there had been no action.  An update was requested. 

 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing and the Interim Environmental Protection Manager 
responded to the issues listed above as follows: 
 

o Advice was provided that room size in properties also relied on use of room before 
being determined as adequate.  The Interim Environmental Protection Manager 
indicated that he would check this property and report back. 

o There were two types of scrap metal licences (site and mobile) and anyone could 
report the poor condition of a property. 

o Follow up work was taking place on the Nuttall Street property and if concerns were 
found in respect of other housing stock, inspections would be organised.   

o The issue in respect of trading at the bottom of Bolton Avenue would be investigated 
and the Member would be updated with any relevant information. 

 
Agreed  - That the report be noted. 
 
 

95 Urgent Business 
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

96 The Time and Date of Future Meetings: 
 
Agreed                                               - That the Regeneration and Housing Panel meet 

on the following dates: 
 
  Tuesday, 15th March 2022 
  Tuesday, 14th June 2022 
  Tuesday, 13th September 2022 
  Tuesday, 13th December 2022  
 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

Page 16



 
 
 

 

 
5 

 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 09 February 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Wendy Redfern – Licensing Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Quantity Restrictions - Hackney carriage Vehicles. 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To enable members to consider the findings of the recent consultation conducted by the 

licensing manager regarding the possible removal of limits on the numbers of hackney 
carriage licences issued in the Borough in favour of wheelchair accessible vehicles.  
 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet are asked to consider the responses to the consultation and to consider what 

action to take in the light of the responses and the apparent current shortage of 
available licensed vehicles in Hyndburn. 

 
2.2 Based on the responses received officers would recommend that the limit be removed 

in favour of wheelchair accessible vehicles.  
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 As members will be aware, the Council  currently has a policy of restricting the number 

of hackney carriage licences issued. The limit in Hyndburn is currently 59 and all plates 
are issued. However in maintaining such a policy the Council has to provide evidence 
that there is no significant unmet demand for hackney carriage services in the area in 
order to be in a position to refuse any new applications for additional licences.  

 
3.2 The starting point for any local authority should be whether limiting the number of 

hackney carriage plates it issues can be justified at all and any policy to limit the 
numbers should be regularly reviewed. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6.



3.3 The present legal provision on quantity restrictions outside London is set out in section 
16 of the Transport Act 1985. This provides that the grant of a taxi (hackney carriage) 
licence may be refused, for the purpose of limiting the numbers of licensed taxis 'if, but 
only if, the [local licensing authority] is satisfied that there is no significant demand for 
the services of hackney carriages (within the area to which the licence would apply) 
which is unmet.' 

 
3.4 Around three quarters of local licensing authorities do not impose quantity restrictions.  

 The Department for Transport Best practice Guidance states that 'Where restrictions 
 are imposed, the department would urge that the matter should be regularly 
 reconsidered.  The Department further urges that the issue to be addressed first in 
 each reconsideration is whether the restrictions should continue at all.  It is suggested 
 that the matter should be approached in terms of the travelling public - that is to say, the 
people who use taxi services.  What benefits or disadvantages would result for the  

 public if the controls were removed?  Is there evidence that the removal of controls 
would result in deterioration in the amount or quality of taxi service provision?' 

 
3.5 A 4 week consultation has just taken place in order to get a view from licence holders, 

taxi and private hire users, the police and any other stakeholders in order to enable 
members to make an informed decision about whether or not limits should be 
maintained.  

 
3.6 The consultation was instigated after several complaints were received from members 

of the public who had struggled to book a taxi to take them home after a night out in the 
Borough.  Elected members had also raised concerns about this, having received 
complaints from residents and there have been issues raised with the MP.  The 
complainants were stating that the situation is so bad that they preferred to stay at home 
rather than risk being stranded and having to walk home late at night or in the early 
hours of the morning.  This in itself poses a risk to members of the public and it is the 
duty of the Council first and foremost under the licensing regime to protect the public. 
Members of the 'Pub Watch' scheme in Accrington were also raising the issue regularly, 
there were comments made that members of staff had been taking customers home 
due to the shortage of taxis available.  This in itself raises safety issues as this activity is 
completely unlicensed with no safety or background checks being carried out on either 
the drivers or the vehicles. The 'Pub Watch' members complained that the night time 
economy is suffering as a consequence of people choosing to stay at home due to the 
shortage of licensed vehicles.  

 
3.7 There was a good response both from members of the trade and from members of the 

public and an analysis of the responses received on Survey Monkey is attached at 
appendix 1 to this report whilst the comments from members of the trade are attached 
at appendix 2.  

 
3.8 There were 26 responses from the private hire and hackney carriage trade and they 

were quite predictable with most hackney carriage proprietors wanting to maintain the 
current policy of restricting numbers and most private hire owners wanting the 

Page 20



restrictions removed. Of the 26 responses received 14 were against the removal of 
restrictions and the remainder were in favour.  Some of the responses in favour of 
removal of the restriction thought that the limits should be removed with no requirement 
to licence wheelchair accessible vehicle, however this seems to be based purely on cost 
and not customer requirement.  

 
3.9 A lot of the hackney carriage proprietors see the problem of lack of vehicles being a 

private hire issue as many of the private hire drivers have chosen to deliver food for 
Uber Eats rather than work late at night carrying people home from licensed premises.  
However the Council cannot control that situation.  We must look at whether there is 
demand for licensed vehicles or not and work with what we have to try and alleviate that 
problem.      

 
3.10 Hackney proprietors who responded also pointed out that there would not be enough 

rank space for all of the vehicles to park if we issued additional plates.  However a rank 
is not meant to be a parking space.  Not all of the licensed vehicles would be working at 
the same time and those that are working should be mostly on the road driving people 
home with the occasional stop at a rank to pick customers up. A busy night time rank 
should be constantly moving.  Further, hackney carriage vehicles can be flagged down 
on the street and in most towns hackney carriages would drive around popular and busy 
areas in order to get flagged down.  The situation relating to ranks would be monitored 
with the possibility of looking at further rank spaces if required in the future, or 
positioning 'flagging points' at popular locations.  A flagging point is an area probably 
just marked with a post where customers are advised to go to if they need to flag a taxi 
down and taxi drivers are advised to regularly drive past that area.  

 
3.11 The lack of availability of private hire vehicles is compounded by the low fares set by the 

private hire companies in the Borough which means that the drivers are struggling to 
make a living driving private hire vehicles, this is also the major cause of the migration 
of drivers to Uber to deliver food. Members should be aware that the Council have no 
control over the level of fares set and charged by private hire companies.  However we 
do set the fares for hackney carriage vehicles.  If there were more hackney carriage 
vehicles licensed it could have the knock on effect of drivers being able to charge a 
reasonable fare, as set by the Council, and being able to make a reasonable living.  

 
3.12 It is understandable that some hackney proprietors will feel concerned about this 

proposal as their current plates demand a retail cost when sold on due to the restricted 
numbers, however this only proves that there are people wanting to get into the trade 
who are restricted from doing so by the current policy. There would be somewhat of a 
safeguard for current proprietors however if any new licences are only issued to either 
purpose built wheelchair accessible vehicles or professionally modified vehicles with  
full certification, as it is proposed that the existing proprietors would maintain 
grandfather rights and still be permitted to licence saloon cars etc.  

 

Page 21



3.13 In any case when making their decision members should be mindful of the DFT 
Guidance set out in paragraph 3.3 above which clearly states that the issue should be 
considered in terms of the travelling public.  

 
3.14 The consultation response from the police clearly sets out a need for more licensed 

vehicles late at night and refers to possible crime and disorder and public safety issues 
due to the current shortage. A copy of the police response is attached at appendix 3 to 
this report. 

  
3.15 Of course members should be mindful that issuing more hackney carriage plates may 

not necessarily resolve the problem particularly late at night as the Council cannot 
dictate the hours that a licence can be used.  However if fares set by the Council can be 
charged, and they are set at a higher rate late at night, this should encourage drivers to 
work later.  The current fare table allows for drivers to charge slightly more between 
midnight and 6am. The fares haven’t been reviewed for quite a number of years and this 
is possibly because the private hire fares are keeping the hackney carriage fares low.  

 
3.16 If members take the view following the consultation that a quantity restriction can be 
 justified, there remains the question of the level at which it should be set.  
 
3.17 For this purpose it would be necessary to commission an independent survey to assess 

the level of demand for hackney carriage services, and such survey should be carried 
out by an organisation specialising in that area.  The cost of any survey should be 
covered by the hackney carriage trade as they are the ones that benefit from any 
quantity restriction policy.  

 
4.0  Conclusion 
 
4.1 The consultation has clearly set out that there is significant unmet demand for hackney 

carriages in Hyndburn with 66.63 % of people responding on the Survey Monkey 
questionnaire stating that they have given up waiting on ranks and 56.45% stating that 
they had given up trying to hail a cab in the street due to the lack of availability and had 
to look for alternative ways of getting home.  The concern is that this could sometimes 
mean walking home late at night, getting a lift in a unlicensed vehicle with an unlicensed 
driver or even risking driving themselves after having a drink.  

 
4.2 When asked what would encourage someone to use a taxi more often 55.78% said 

more hackneys they could phone for  and 43.89% said more hackneys that I could hail 
on the street or get at a rank. When asked if there are enough hackney carriage 
vehicles in Hyndburn 78.9% of those responding on Survey Monkey said no.  

 
4.3 Of the responses to the question about requiring a wheelchair accessible vehicle 12.9% 

said they knew someone that needed to use on and 2.58% said they needed to use one 
themselves.   

 

Page 22



4.4 Taking into account the outcome of the consultation, officers recommend that the 
Council remove the restrictions on the numbers of hackney carriage licences that we 
issue. 

 
4.5 Further officers recommend that any new licences should only be issued to purpose 

built or professionally modified wheelchair accessible vehicle and that current 
proprietors of hackney carriage vehicles should maintain their grandfather rights.  

 
 
4.6     Members may wish to remove the limits on hackney carriage vehicle licences issued 

completely for any type of vehicle, however there is a requirement for wheelchair 
accessible vehicles in the Borough.  

 
4.7 Members could choose to maintain the limits on hackney carriage vehicle licences and 

instruct the licensing manager to commission an Unmet Demand Survey.  If this option 
is taken members should determine how the survey should be paid for.  

 
4.8 When making the decision members should consider the issue from the travelling 

publics point of view and consider what benefits or disadvantages would result for the 
public if the controls were removed?  Is there evidence that the removal of controls 
would result in deterioration in the amount or quality of taxi service provision? 

 
4.9 If members are minded to remove the restrictions on numbers in favour of wheelchair 

accessible vehicles officers recommend that the policy wording be amended to reflect 
this change as set out at appendix 4 to this report. 

 
5. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
5.1 The Council could have taken the option to do nothing however it is clear from the 

complaints received and the consultation responses, that there is a real problem in 
Hyndburn that the Council need to deal with. Further, in the event of a challenge to a 
decision to refuse a licence, we would have to prove that we had reasonably, been 
satisfied that there was no significant unmet demand. 

 
6. Consultations 
 
6.1 A consultation was carried out with members of the private hire and hackney carriage 

trade as well as the police, members of the travelling public and other stakeholders. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 
7. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

 
None 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Failure to give proper regard to the 
consultation responses and the provisions of 
the Transport Act 1985 could lead to a legal 
challenge. 
 
Failure to issue any further licences without 
establishing that there is no significant unmet 
demand could also lead to legal challenge. 

Assessment of risk Failure to give proper regard to the 
consultation responses could lead to a legal 
challenge. 
 
Failure to provide a comprehensive transport 
infrastructure to service the night time 
economy could lead to a risk to public safety 
and crime and disorder on the streets late at 
night.  It could also risk a decline in the night 
time economy in the Borough. 

Page 24



Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

The Council is subject to the public sector 
equality duty introduced by the Equality Act 
2010. When making a decision in respect of 
the recommendations in this report Cabinet 
must have regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 

 advance equality of opportunity 
between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who 
don’t; and 

 foster good relations between those 
who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t. 

For these purposes the relevant protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. To assist the Cabinet in this 
regard a Customer First Analysis has been 
carried out as part of the review process and 
is attached as Appendix 5 to this report. 
Cabinet is advised to consider the Customer 
First Analysis and its obligations in respect of 
the public sector equality duty when making a 
decision in respect of the recommendations 
contained in this report.  

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
Survey Monkey Analysis - Appendix 1 
Survey email responses - Appendix 2 
Police response - Appendix 3 
Suggested amended policy wording - Appendix 4 
Customer First Analysis- Appendix 5 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 

Page 25

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 
 
 

Page 26



Consultation - Removal of limits on hackney carriage vehicle licences issued

1 / 6

76.85% 239

23.15% 72

Q1 In the last 3 months have you made one or more trips by taxi in
Hyndburn?

Answered: 311 Skipped: 1

TOTAL 311

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Yes

No

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Q2 How often do you use a Taxi within this area?
Answered: 311 Skipped: 1

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Three or more
times a week

Once or twice
a week

Less than
1/week but m...

Once or twice
a month

Less than
1/month but...

Once or twice
a year

Never

Page 27



Consultation - Removal of limits on hackney carriage vehicle licences issued

2 / 6

19.61% 61

18.65% 58

12.54% 39

19.61% 61

12.86% 40

11.25% 35

5.47% 17

TOTAL 311

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Three or more times a week

Once or twice a week

Less than 1/week but more than 2/month

Once or twice a month

Less than 1/month but more than 2/year

Once or twice a year

Never

Q3 How often do you use a hackney carriage (hcv) within this area?
Answered: 311 Skipped: 1

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Three or more
times a week

Once or twice
a week

Less than
1/week but m...

Once or twice
a month

Less than
1/month but...

Once or twice
a year

I can’t
remember whe...

Can’t remember
seeing hcv i...

Page 28



Consultation - Removal of limits on hackney carriage vehicle licences issued

3 / 6

7.07% 22

9.00% 28

6.75% 21

12.54% 39

7.07% 22

6.11% 19

22.83% 71

28.62% 89

TOTAL 311

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Three or more times a week

Once or twice a week

Less than 1/week but more than 2/month

Once or twice a month

Less than 1/month but more than 2/year

Once or twice a year

I can’t remember when I last used a hcv

Can’t remember seeing hcv in Hyndburn

Q4 Is there any location in the Hyndburn area where you would like to
see a rank, and if it was there and vehicles were available, you would

use it?
Answered: 263 Skipped: 49

Q5 What would encourage you to use hackney carriages or use them
more often? (Indicate top two reasons)

Answered: 303 Skipped: 9

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Better vehicles

More hackney
carriages I...

Better drivers

More hcv I
could hail o...

Page 29



Consultation - Removal of limits on hackney carriage vehicle licences issued

4 / 6

32.01% 97

55.78% 169

36.96% 112

43.89% 133

Total Respondents: 303  

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Better vehicles

More hackney carriages I could phone for

Better drivers

More hcv I could hail or get at a rank

79.35% 246

2.58% 8

12.90% 40

0.97% 3

4.19% 13

Q6 Do you, or anyone you know, need an adapted licensed vehicle?
Answered: 310 Skipped: 2

TOTAL 310

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

No

Yes, I need a
wheel chair...

Yes someone I
know needs a...

Yes, I need an
adapted...

Yes, someone I
know needs a...

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

No

Yes, I need a wheel chair accessible vehicle (WAV)

Yes someone I know needs a WAV

Yes, I need an adapted vehicle, not WAV

Yes, someone I know needs an adapted vehicle, not WAV

Q7 Have you ever given up waiting or made alternative arrangements
when trying to get a hackney carriage at a rank anywhere in the

Hyndburn council area?
Answered: 308 Skipped: 4

Page 30



Consultation - Removal of limits on hackney carriage vehicle licences issued

5 / 6

63.64% 196

36.36% 112

TOTAL 308

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Yes

No

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

56.45% 175

43.55% 135

Q8 Have you ever given up waiting or made alternative arrangements
when trying to get a hackney carriage by hailing one anywhere in the

Hyndburn council area?
Answered: 310 Skipped: 2

TOTAL 310

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Yes

No

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Q9 Are there enough hackney carriages in the Hyndburn council area?
Answered: 310 Skipped: 2

Page 31



Consultation - Removal of limits on hackney carriage vehicle licences issued

6 / 6

21.29% 66

78.71% 244

TOTAL 310

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Yes

No

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

75.64% 236

24.36% 76

Q10 Do you have regular access to a car?
Answered: 312 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 312

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Yes

No

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 32



Responses from the trade 
 
Against the removal of limits 
 
 

1. In this town there is nothing left night trade since the no smoking ban came in july 
2007 the poor hackney drivers are struggling like hell to make living doing 60 jobs a 
week 3 big private operators drivers making so no money no one else ever has made 

in the trade money.  Hope everyone has had a nice Christmas 🎄 bank Holiday from 

ash 2 main points please 1 is there no need at all to issue no more hackney carriage 
licences because there is no work at all left in Hyndburn unless you work for max 2 if 
you are going to remove the limit on hackney carriages please make it completely 
free limit free for all everyone and make them all hackney's no private like 
Rossendale and at least everyone will have to use a council approved meter fare and 
there will be no private hire operators licence needed like Rossendale Manchester 
ash 35 yrs experience  

 
 

2. I personally think there is no need for extra Hackney carriages The walking trade is 
down with no shops in the Arndale there is enough hackney carriages as it is The 
problem is with low prices that the private hire companies are charging which has 
driven a lot drivers away from the trade and in to Uber delivery’s I think you should 
look at the fares With the price of fuel that has increased and the fares  that are set 
it’s just not viable It’s a monopoly and the drivers have no say I have been in the 
trade for 25 years and the prices have decreased Looking at other boroughs the 
prices are set accordingly I work for myself and have my own set prices But I feel for 
the drivers Either have meters or the prices have to increase and drivers will return 
This is what causing the lack of taxis not the Hackney carriages. 

 
3. The limit on Hackney carriages should be the same because they is not enough work 

for all the 60 Hackney vehicles that are provided by the council. Also they is not 
enough to park all the 60 Hackney Carriage vehicles on the taxi ranks that are 
provided by the council, at night time there are 2 ranks 1 on Blackburn Road outside 
Bees Knees and 1 on Warner Street. Private hire and private vehicles be parked on 
taxi ranks that are provided by the council so Hackney vehicles do not have any 
spaces to park on the ranks. We have made several complaints about these issues 
but no action has been taken yet. As far as this issue with trying to take the limit off 
the Hackney vehicles we drivers don't agree on this because there are more than 
enough drivers working on the rank including wheelchair accessible vehicles.  

 
 

4. Remain limit on hackney carriage. 
 

5. Hi Wendy I hope u well? I have the letter you have sent to all drivers some parts I? 
don't agree please can you do the survey and find facts because you don't have a 
problem with public hire the problem is with private hire they are too cheap and then 
they can't pick up customer and no customer come to public hire vehicles another 
problem we have parking on ranks is not enough ranks to park 62 hackney cabs 
before issuing any hackney licences find out the facts also there is drivers working 
out of town full time u need get them to work in Hyndburn  

 
6. There is no need to increase the number of Hackney carriage vehicle licences. 

Please see reasons listed below: 
 Not enough work for the current 60 drivers, drivers waiting 1-3 hours for one fare. 

Page 33



 Other Borough taxis working in the area causing negative impact for the Hyndburn 
hackney carriage licence drivers. 

 Increased taxi maintenance costs such as DBS, MOT, retest costs for minor faults 
and insurance leaves us with reduced incomes therefore more licences issued will 
impact us negatively and financially.  

 Covid pandemic has affected the borough tremendously with the highest level of 
deprivation nationally. 

 No night time economy, no pubs means no work for Hackney drivers. 
 Arndale shopping centre has no viable retail outlets. Shops closing frequently 

resulting in no customers for the Hackney carriage drivers.  
 No new trade or businesses therefore its not feasible to increase licences. 
 Nationally lowest salaries resulting in customers spending less on taxis. 
 Customers struggling to pay. 
 ‘Yobs’ youth culture scaring drivers and customers and damaging vehicles daily yet 

another expense for the Hackney drivers. 
 Hyndburn is a deprived borough and we simply do not earn enough money.  

 
7. I am not a email person. Apology for this. This is my response to issuing more 

hackney licenses. I have seen rapid decline in taxi business in the borough for about 
15 years at least. There are for too many taxis in this town for the size of town 'and 
rapidly dying town. There are a lot of people in this business because in last few 
years there were no decent jobs to have .now i believe there are job to have.to say 
there is unmet demand for taxis is not true at all.90%of taxis are working for private 
taxi firms 'why because there is no trade to work as independently .so we' instead of 
working from taxi ranks are having to pay a high amount of rent just to get some 
trade. So I am sorry to say who ever is telling you about unmet taxi demand is not 
being honest and realistic.in my opinion if there were some more licenses issued to 
new drivers ' some dedicated experienced drivers who just hanging on and really 
struggling might just call it day .it is just my opinion . So one should be very careful 
before making such a move. 

 
8. Think we already have more taxis for size of town' night life of town because night 

trade in Accrington is rapidly declining and has done for last 15 to 20 years while I 
have been in the trade. Sometimes one waits for next job for quiet long time before 
next job. It is very annoying that you leave your bed ' sit on rank waiting and waiting.  
You start thinking if one is in right job. I could carry on but I think I made a strong 
case against the move .thanks 

 
 

9. As I have received a email regarding they is a problem for taxis for early hours in the 
morning. The problem is with private hire not public hire so please do a survey so 
you know exactly way the problem is customer wait and ring private hire when taxi 
are waiting on the ranks provided please can you let us know in any changes which 
affect public hire thank yours faithfully 

 
 

10. Me as a Hackney Carriage driver strongly disagree with the council thinking to take 
the limit off the Hackney vehicles the reasons are as follows, no parking space for the 
Hackney cars on the ranks due to private and private hire vehicles parking on our taxi 
ranks and taking our jobs and no response from the enforcement officer. No business 
on Friday and Saturday nights and during the day due to closure of shops in 
Accrington. No signs on the taxi ranks to state even the rank is a taxi rank. We as 
Hackney Carriage drivers do not agree with the council to issue the wheelchair 
accessible plates, firstly at night time rarely disable passengers come for a drink in 
town and get a taxi from the rank so this is pointless to issue wheelchair accessible 

Page 34



and during the day there are more than enough wheelchair access vehicles on the 
rank. Hope this helps with the council making a decision. 

 
11. Maintain limits on Hackney carriage. 

 
12. No 

 
13. Yes good idea give out free hackney plates, so the drivers can work out of town as 

private hire drivers. That's why there is shortage of drivers they all working in Ribble 
Valley, Preston, and Blackburn, dish out more plates and lose the remaining drivers 
to work out of town.  This loophole needs to stop. There shouldn't be more hackney 
carriage issued as the remaining drivers will use them to work out of town and then 
there will be no taxis available. As at the moment a few of the private hire drivers are 
working in Clitheroe under eagle taxis from Accrington. And the hackneys too  legally  
 

14. The licensing has sent me a email saying that they want to issue new Hackney plates 
for wheelchair accessible. I do not agree with this matter because there is not 
enough work day and night for all the 60 hackneys and also there is not enough 
space to park on the taxi ranks that are provided for the 60 vehicles. When you have 
said that at night time there are shortages of taxi vehicles, The public is relating this 
to private hire vehicles who cannot cover their jobs due to being very cheap so they 
have to wait extortionate amount of time for a taxi and they will not use us because 
they say we are “very expensive” but instead our prices have not been changed 
since 2008. Rather us putting our prices up with this inflation we are still providing a 
better service with the same price. At night time outside bees knees there are private 
vehicles parked outside the rank and also private hire vehicles that be picking our 
jobs and also park there. So our fleet our hackney drivers do not agree with this 
matter, hope this will help you making a decision on this matter.  
 

For the removal of limits 
 

1. Yeah customers have to wait for too long if there are more plates it would be a lot 
easy to pick up and clear jobs n please can you put my name on the list 

 
2.  Good to hear from you. Yes must need to remove the limit of hackney vehicles. 

Thanks.  
 

3. I contact you today on your email above regarding the limit of Hackney plates that 
are issued.  We believe that it would be the right decision to lift this as we were 
considering to leave the Hyndburn borough due to the low fare prices, this would 
make us reconsider our decision stay on and continue to work with this borough. If 
you would like to discuss this further please do not hesitate to contact us. 
 

4. Hi I encourage licensing council to issue more hackney plates which is good for 
public with disabilities and old people thanks  
 

5. Hiya I'm writing to inform you that our council should take the limit off the Hackney 
plates and the council should consider giving the Hackney plates without the 
restriction of disable requirements. The reason for this is the public won't then rely on 
our local taxi companies. As you are aware there is very shortage of taxi drivers in 
our Borough and the main reason for this is the price's which are set by our taxi 
companies are very low. Which we fully understand that our council can't do much 
about that. However our council can help us by giving Hackney plates out so our 
public can be picked up and get home safe instead of waiting for taxi a long time. 

Page 35



Also I would like our council to consider taking the age limit off the cars because a lot 
of drivers in Accrington got Blackburn and Darwen plates because our councils age 
limit on vehicles and 3 mots a year where Blackburn and Darwen council is 2 mots a 
year and no age restriction on vehicles. We rather give our own council the revenue 
then giving it to another Borough. However whatever the outcome is will still respect 
our Councils decision. 

 
6. I encourage the council issue more hackney carriage licence and lift the limit of 

hackney carriage licence because of more demand of hackney carriage driver and 
for the public safety and people are facing difficulties to find a Taxi if more hackney 
carriage driver it is benefit for the people thanks 
 

7. Hackney carriage should be a free trade offer for all taxi drivers the limit should be 
removed completely for everyone to have an option for the license or make it one 
combined license for everyone.  Understand you wanting wheelchair But no one uses 
it.  Even people with wheel chair manage without the car chair that you are 
recommending.  Wheelchair access could deter drivers to come forward and take up 
Hackney licence. Its too costly for installation and to change seats when changing 
vehicle . Please could you relax this rule and make it easier for the drivers just to 
have the licence only.  Only way to make it more appealing for drivers to stay on 
working late is too put licensing condition for all private hire firms to charge double 
between 12am and 6am .7 days a week 

 
8. I think there should more hackney licensing as taxi service demand is more with only 

60 hackney badges not enough to cover the all day demand with more licences 
issued will help the public and the taxi service  

 
9. Yes its a good idea a lot of jobs are getting late and u have a lot of no shows. It 

would be good if u could get a hackney plate 
 

10. That's good 
 

11. I think this is a good idea due to the struggle of clients being able to get taxis, I would 
support this proposal.  
 

12. I am licenced with yourselves can you please consider myself for a Hackney carriage 
because currently I am working for Blackburn with Darwen Council and I would like to 
come back home to Hyndburn Borough Council thank you very much and it would be 
a lot quicker for customers to get a taxi. Current Hackney drivers majority of them are 
over 50 and do not work at night so if you do issue more I think you should give them 
to young drivers like myself thank you please do consider myself 
 
 

Response from a member of the public 
 
It is sad to say, that the current Taxi services are under performing, late at turning up, if you 
have to go to an airport train station, or sometimes not turning up at all when booked days in 
advance, this happened to me twice this year, left out of town and had to phone for another 
Boroughs taxi service, my daughter had arrange to meet me for lunch in town for 1pm, she 
arrived at 1-45pm waiting for a taxi that said they would be at her home within 10 mins, so 
yes a serious review needs to be addressed, R H  
 

 
 
 

Page 36



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Good afternoon, 
 
I write this e-mail in response to a consultation of a consideration of lifting the limits on the number 
of hackney carriage vehicles that Hyndburn Borough Council licence. 
 
As licensing sergeant for the area, I am invested in the local pubwatch scheme and have regular 
dialogue with licensees. One common theme in Hyndburn – Accrington Town Centre especially – is 
the struggle for people to get a taxi late at night or in the early hours. I often hear stories of staff 
giving regulars a lift home and people being stranded when local taxi firms cancel without reason. 
 
After the initial Covid pandemic, I believe that many drivers decided to become 
takeaway/Deliveroo/Just Eat drivers. I wouldn’t blame them as they don’t have to put up with some 
of the issues of dealing with drunks and potential violence. 
 
As such, I think there is a necessity for more readily available taxis that can be hailed. This would 
help to reduce violent crime in town centres (of which Blackburn Road, Accrington near the Railway, 
Bees Knees and Nags Head pubs is a hotspot) and increase public safety. 
 
If people are hanging around waiting for taxis and growing frustrated then this can lead to public 
order/violence or just encourage people to stay out later and consume more alcohol than they need. 
Also, there is a big push around people’s vulnerability, especially women, and to have readily 
available licensed hackney carriages would prevent individuals from being subjected to harassment. 
 
I have copied Inspector Richard Ogdin into this response as Geographic Inspector for Hyndburn to 
see if he or his team have any further thoughts. 
 
Kind regards 
 
Gary 
 
Gary Hennighan 
Licensing Sergeant – East Division 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



All new or replacement hackney carriage vehicles must be;-  
 

 a “London” type hackney carriage, or  a suitable wheelchair accessible     
     vehicle, approved by the Council, for licence numbers 54 to 62 
 
 

All new or replacement hackney carriage vehicles must be;-  
 

 a “London” type hackney carriage, or  a suitable purpose built or 
professionally adapted wheelchair accessible vehicle, approved by the 
Council, save for hackney carriage vehicle 1 -53 which shall maintain 
grandfather rights unless the licence is revoked or not renewed. 

 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 2 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce 
any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A 
meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Human Resources.  I can guide you through the 
process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 43



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 2 

Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
 
Improve public safety  and convenience by increasing the numbers of hackney carriage 
vehicles available 
 

 Who defines and manages it? 
 
 Licensing Officers/ Licensing Manager and the Executive Director of Legal and Democratic 
 Services. 
 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 

Members of the travelling public and those people who may be looking to enter the trade but 
are restricted from doing so by the current policy. Customers who would require a wheelchair 
accessible vehicle.  Night time economy practitioners. Current hackney proprietors who will 
maintain grandfather rights and be able to charge a reasonable fare as set by the Council in 
order to achieve a reasonable level of earnings. 
 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
  

Poor uptake of new licences 
 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 

Consultation with stakeholders 
 
2. Evidence 
 

Improved safety and convenience, more wheelchair accessible vehicle and less complaints 
from people wishing to use a licensed vehicle particularly late at night. 

 
3. Impact 
 

The changes to the policy will hopefully ease the issue of a shortage of licensed vehicles 
servicing the night time economy.  There should be more wheelchair accessible vehicles 
available ensuring that wheelchair users can enjoy a night out with friends and family with the 
assurance of being able to get a cab at the rank or flag one down.  

 
 

Name:   Wendy Redfern                              Signed: _________________________ 
 
Service Area:  Licensing                          Dated: 20th February 2022 

 
If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the cabinet report for reference. 

 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 
 

Page 44



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 09 February 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Kirsten Burnett, Head of Policy and Organisational 
Development 

TITLE OF REPORT: Smart Working Strategy 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval for a Smart Working Strategy. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet approves the draft Strategy. 
 
2.2 That the Smart Working Strategy Group continues to progress the work identified 

within the associated action plan and the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic) be 
given delegated authority to approve updates to the action plan as they deem 
appropriate. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 

3.1 The pandemic has necessitated different ways of working, in particular to apply the 
working from home guidance which has been in place throughout various periods, from 
the initial lockdown in March 2020.  Homeworking has been a key element in keeping 
services running and helping to make our workplaces safer for those staff who needed 
to attend.  There has been considerable investment in ICT equipment and 
infrastructure to support the new arrangements. 

 
3.2 All elected members were invited to a discussion on 7 July 2021.  This included a 

presentation on the issues to be considered, the pros and cons of hybrid working as 
reported by staff and service managers, and an update on how staff were actually 
working.  This showed that around 60% of staff were coming into the workplace all the 
time, including front-line operational staff, as well as some office-based staff.  In most 
cases this was because their role did not allow remote working.  About 20% of staff 
were coming in 2 or 3 days a week, with the rest at home, and the remaining 20% were 
almost entirely home-based.  

Page 45

Agenda Item 7.



 

3.3 On 19 July 2021, the Government’s covid-19 guidance moved to step 4 of the 
roadmap, including the dropping of the requirement to work from home wherever 
possible.  Since then, the Council has asked staff to come into the workplaces for a 
minimum of 2 or 3 days per week, providing covid-secure arrangements were 
maintained.  This was reversed for a short period while “Plan B” restrictions were in 
place.  We will continue to make decisions that are informed by national guidance. 

 
3.4 It was agreed in July 2021 that a small working group would be set up to consider the 

issues and determine a way forward.  It included the Leader and Portfolio Holder, a 
further Labour member, the Leader of the Conservative group plus another 
Conservative member, 2 Unison representatives, the Head of Policy and OD and the 
Head of ICT.  This group met on 3 August and 7 September 2021 and considered 
further information, in particular around productivity, safety, communications and likely 
training needs.   

 
3.5 Members made a decision on 7 September 2021 to recommend retaining hybrid 

working into the future, and that officers should work with Trade Unions on the policies 
and practices required to make this work effectively.  In particular, officers were asked 
to note that there were still concerns about responsive and effective communication.  

 
3.6 At its meeting on 15 September 2021, Management Team agreed the 

recommendations to develop a Smart Working Strategy with a small officer steering 
group.  This includes the Head of Policy and OD, the Head of ICT, the Regeneration 
and Property Manager, the Head of Audit and Investigations, the acting Head of 
Environmental Health and the Safety and Emergency Planning Officer. 

 
3.2 The group has developed the draft Strategy now being presented.  This includes an 

action plan which captures the individual work elements envisaged, some of which are 
longer-term actions.  This is intended to be a living action plan which will be added to 
and updated as necessary. 

 
3.3 The draft Strategy sets out the overall approach and principles.  It is likely to be 

necessary to continue to operate flexibly as the pandemic, any restrictions or identified 
risk measures change.  The Strategy will also allow the Council to make changes to 
any ongoing arrangements if service needs require this. 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 This proposal seeks to implement the recommendation of the Member working group 

set up to consider future ways of working. 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The draft has been shared with Service Managers, the elected member working group, 

and Trade Unions for consultation prior to bringing this for Cabinet approval.  Unison 
have confirmed their agreement and no proposed changes have been suggested. 

 
  

Page 46



 

6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None identified at this stage.  Work to support  
the Strategy (such as ICT infrastructure 
projects) will seek approval as required. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Hybrid working will be on a voluntary basis, 
with the Council’s workplace remaining the 
contractual base. 

Assessment of risk 
 

n/a 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Completed. 

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None 
  

Page 47

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis – Smart Working Strategy 
 

 
 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy? 
 
This Strategy is designed to progress the recommendations from a member working group into future ways of 
working.  This considered the changes to working arrangements during the pandemic and recommended that 
officer bring forward proposals that will enable us to retain the option of hybrid working in our future working 
arrangements. 
 
The Strategy covers buildings and technology in addition to people issues.  Individual decisions will require their 
own CFA, in some cases, especially with HR policies.  
 

 Who defines and manages it? 
 
The work is led by the Head of Policy and OD in partnership with colleagues from Regeneration and ICT.  A 
Smart Working Strategy Group also includes Audit and Health and Safety.  Recommendations will be taken to 
Management Team.  Consultees will include Trade Unions, service managers and relevant elected members. 
 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 
We believe that there are numerous business benefits from supporting hybrid working where job roles allow and 
these informed the decision to develop this work further.  Employees may also benefit from having increased 
choice over work locations, within an agreed framework. 
 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy? 
 
Some job roles will not be suitable for hybrid working.  Not all staff have the appropriate home environment for 
homeworking to be an option.  Some teams will require more people to be in the workplace which may affect the 
degree of flexibility available. 
 
It is important that managers take a consistent approach to applying the principles once these are agreed, while 
recognising that there are genuine differences in service needs across the Council. 
 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 
We will consult with and communicate with staff, elected members and our customers, where the arrangements 
affect them or the way they interact with us. 
 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 
 If we are able to successfully implement the required policies and practices that mean hybrid working 

supports our service delivery.   
 We have a set of performance indicators which can help us assess this.   
 We can consider and address any feedback from stakeholders. 
 If we avoid workplace covid outbreaks. 
 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 

Page 48



 

 
We know that about 40% of our staff have been working either hybrid or homeworking over the pandemic.  This 
includes some people who have health vulnerabilities.  We are now asking all staff to come into the workplace 
for part of the week, unless there are exceptional reasons not to do this. 
 
Services collate data as required including performance indicators.  We have data on customer contact. 
 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, disability, 
ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and maternity)? 

 
Workforce data routinely includes protected characteristics and is reported an analysed at least annually. 
 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 
 
Yes, as described above. 
 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
 
Yes – see above “What could prevent people from making the most out of the policy”. 
 
People with disabilities may benefit from having greater flexibility over working locations and the possibility of 
reducing travel. 
 
People with particular religious needs may also benefit from increased flexibility when there are important 
events.  It may support people with caring responsibilities. 
 
Underpinning this will be a focus on service delivery.  While staff may well experience benefits in this way of 
working, it is not an entitlement and must meet need of the service. 
 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or disadvantages 
another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 

 
There is no evidence that any group will be disadvantaged but it will be important to consider feedback from 
stakeholders and take action is required. 
 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 
 
Not as far as we know but we must remain alert to this. 
 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the community?  
What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 
 

Yes.  There is already evidence of some sense of unfairness among staff, or concerns from those who need to 
be in the office about others returning and the impact on covid-safety.  This all needs to be managed as part of 
detailed policy development and by working closely with service managers and trade unions, and supported by 
clearly communicated and up to date risk assessments. 
 

 Do you need to consult further? 
 
Detailed plans and policies will be developed under the umbrella of the Smart Working Strategy and there will be 
consultation requirements associated with these. 
 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 
 

Page 49



 

Improved technology will be implemented with our customer service in mind and should bring improvements.  
Some of the changes necessitated by covid restrictions have also bought efficiencies and will be retained. 
 

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 
 
Managers, staff, trade unions, elected members. 
 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
 
If there are significant Strategy reviews or other new information. 

 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of Policy and OD 
20/10/21 

 

Page 50



 

Hyndburn Borough Council 

 

 

 
 

 

  

Page 51



 

Context 
 

The ability of the Council to succeed in achieving its corporate priorities is underpinned by a 

skilled and well-supported workforce which is fit for the future and able to innovate.  During 

the pandemic, we showed that we can adapt rapidly, work across organisational and 

departmental boundaries and achieve excellent outcomes for the people we serve.  It is 

important that we recognise and celebrate this, and learn lessons to ensure we can respond 

to future challenges. 

 

Our workforce is more diverse than many people realise, with a vast array of professions 

and services, from front-line officers who work out and about in our Borough, to those who 

develop plans and strategies or perform essential administration.  The scope for different 

workstyles will depend on roles, the nature of the team, the service being provided and 

individual circumstances. 

 

The government’s requirement for many of our staff to work wholly or partly from home for 

long periods during the pandemic gave us the opportunity to review the way we work and 

update our use of technology.  We do not know what lies ahead in terms of the pandemic 

and how this will influence how we need to work into the future, so any decisions we make 

now may need to be reviewed. 

 

We wish to use what we have learnt from these new ways of working to continue to improve 

how we do things so that our customers benefit from more responsive and efficient services.  

This strategy is about working in a smarter, more intelligent and efficient way and therefore 

goes beyond traditional approaches to flexible working. 

 

 
“Smarter working empowers us all to make the right decisions about where, when and 
how we work; optimising the use of workplaces and technology, and realising savings for 
the taxpayer. It improves productivity through a focus on outputs and enables a better 
work life balance for all.” 
 
Government Guidance1 
 

 

The majority of staff and managers in teams where roles can be worked from home or 

elsewhere tell us that they believe a hybrid option would be the best, giving benefits in 

productivity and wellbeing.  This approach may also improve our attractiveness as an 

employer to existing staff and potential recruits with the skills and experience we need, 

especially in roles that have become harder to fill due to several years of public sector pay 

restraint.  However, to make this work, it is important that we have systems in place to 

ensure that individual and team performance, communication, social interaction and learning 

and development are supported and well-managed.  We recognise that there will be 

tensions and challenges to work through in balancing the needs of the Council and the 

preferences of individual staff and teams.  One of the key early actions will be to review our 

Flexible Working Policy, which covers homeworking, to ensure that it supports proposed 

working arrangements by giving more detailed guidance to staff and managers. 

 

                                                
1
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-way-we-work-tw3-best-practice-guidelines-for-

smarter-working 

Page 52



 

Supporting Climate Change 

 

The Climate Emergency declared by the Council in September 2019 included the following 

amongst its commitments: 

 

 to make the Council’s activities net-zero carbon by 2030 

 to ensure that all strategic decisions, budgets and approaches to planning decisions 

are in line with a shift to zero carbon by 2030. 

 

Reducing journeys through more mobile or home-based working, and virtual meetings, will 

support these commitments and reduce our carbon footprint as well as costs.  Hybrid 

working will also allow us to take a fresh look at how we use our property assets. 

 

  

Page 53



 

Our Smart Working Principles 
 

 We will be flexible, accept that there are uncertainties, and review how things are 

working.  Our Smart Working Strategy action plan is a dynamic document that will 

change as required. 

 

 Smart working is primarily about giving additional flexibility over where we work, 

rather than when.  Our normal business hours and flexi-time arrangements will 

continue to apply unless we specifically agree otherwise. 

 

 We value our organisational culture and the role of face to face interactions in 

supporting team spirit, effective working relationships and staff development.  Time 

spent in the workplace will remain an important feature of our working arrangements. 

 

 We will always consider the needs of our customers and support our elected 

members to perform their roles effectively. 

 

 We will trust our staff to plan their work so that it takes place at the most effective 

location, respecting the needs of the customer and their team.  Individual preferences 

will need to be balanced with service needs. 

 

 We will invest in technology to modernise ways of working, drive efficiencies and 

provide flexible meeting opportunities. 

 

 We will look for opportunities to reduce the costs associated with our property and 

estates. 

 

 We will support our managers to manage within any changed ways of working and to 

focus on outcomes rather than presence.  This will include developing the right skills 

and having the right frameworks and guidance to monitor and review the 

performance of their staff. 

 

 We will encourage staff to challenge and improve processes. 

 

 We will take advantages of the opportunities more virtual meetings offer to 

encourage people to collaborate across teams and with partners. 

 

 We place a high value on the health, safety and wellbeing of our staff and other users 

of our building, including elected members. 

 

 We will involve staff and work closely with our Trade Union colleagues in developing 

our HR policies and to address any concerns. 

 

 We will ensure that new working practices are inclusive and support our equality 

objectives.  In particular, we will take account of any issues for individual staff around 

disability and reasonable adjustments. 

 

 We will prioritise information governance and confidentiality, particularly in respect of 

personal and sensitive information. 

  

Page 54



 

Smart Working - People and Culture 
 

The flexibility for some of our staff to continue working to a hybrid model will need to be 

balanced with meeting service priorities.  Staff will remain accountable for their work 

outcomes but have greater freedom on how and where their work is delivered.  Clearly there 

will be some areas of work where this level of flexibility is not possible or is more limited. 

 

To be successful, our Smart Working aspirations will rely on the following: 

 

Empowerment 

 

Staff will be provided with the tools, opportunities and support to enable them to maintain 

high levels of engagement and performance in a positive, supportive culture, based on trust. 

 

Effective leadership and management 

 

We will support and develop our leaders to be strong, confident and engaging with a clearly 

articulated vision of success and positive role modelling. 

 

We will expect our leaders and managers to encourage new ways of doing things and to 

capture the creativity, collaboration, sense of purpose and shared decision-making that we 

have seen in our response to the pandemic. 

 

Our leaders will need to ensure that all their teams understand the contribution they can 

make to our corporate priorities. 

 

Communication and engagement 

 

This strategy sets out the Council’s high-level framework for smart working.  Effective 

communication and engagement with staff and stakeholders is essential.  Clear and 

consistent messages and employee feedback will help shape and implement our detailed 

approach.  We will keep our internal communications mechanisms under review to make 

sure these fit with new ways of working. 

 

Health and wellbeing 

 

Our duty of care to staff includes physical, emotional and mental wellbeing.  We need to 

continue to promote our existing support mechanisms and also review our provision to 

reflect developing needs and to maintain our sense of team within a culture that is physically 

and psychologically safe. 

 

  

Page 55



 

Our values 
 

Underpinning how our staff operate are our Corporate Values. We are committed to 

embracing these values and making sure they are embedded across the organisation.  

 

Customer Focus  

We will make best use of our resources to support the delivery of excellent services to our 

customers.  We will treat each customer as a valued individual and show sensitivity to their 

needs and differences.  

 

Integrity  

We will always try to do the right thing. We will act and communicate honestly and openly, 

honour our commitments and be accountable for our actions  

 

Positive Attitude 

We will be proactive and optimistic in finding solutions to challenges, open to improved ways 

of working and to updating our knowledge and skills to meet these changes.  

 

Teamwork 

We promote a friendly and supportive working environment.  We will work together across 

teams, services and with partners to achieve the objectives of the Council and the best 

outcomes for our customers. 

Page 56



Smart Working Strategy Action Plan 
 

 
 

 

 

Lead Task Progress Next steps 

People 

KB Undertake Customer First Analysis of Smart Working Strategy Completed Circulate with Strategy 

KB Review HR policies around hybrid working incl FW, mileage to 
ensure that we have suitable detailed guidance around hybrid 
working 

Initial meeting held with local TU 
reps 5/11/21 

Circulate updated draft of FW policy 
for consultation with Unions and 
service managers 

KB Agree a staff feedback mechanism to raise concerns over working 
arrangements 

Survey conducted Risk measures clarified 

KB Consult with TU on any proposed policies   

KB Develop a plan to address training needs Sessions being planned with 
CMT and with managers early 
2022 

 

KB Co-ordinate regular internal communications on progress 
(including elected member group) 

  

KB Review Wellbeing Strategy / WHAT Team Activities have been delivered 
throughout pandemic.  Reported 
to Safety Committee.   

New HRM will resume WHAT team 
meetings 
 
Wellbeing themed Hyndsight 
planned for early 2022 

KB / SS Review project management documentation and ensure 
involvement of relevant colleagues 

  

CMT Engagement with senior managers to ensure a consistent 
approach and message 

  

KB / CMT Promote the values and behaviours expected for effective and 
respectful inter-service working 

  

People (H & S at work) 

PF Review covid RA’s in light of any changing guidance / risk levels Currently under review  

PF Ensure system in place to monitor DSE compliance for range of 
work locations 

Draft circulated to SWS group 
1/11/21 and agreed.  Now 

Monitor completions and ensure 
action taken to address any issues / 

P
age 57



Smart Working Strategy Action Plan 
 

 
 

 

circulated to staff risks 

KB Complete and implement review of policies and messages to 
promote zero tolerance of aggressive or violent behaviour from 
customers 

Draft produced, some final 
details to be confirmed 

Needs to be finalised then taken to 
Cabinet for approval and 
implemented / communicated 

PF Review lone working arrangements – office / site visits HD to speak to SR re using 
Sector Security for daytime as 
well as out of hours 

 

PF / HMM Ensure workplace fire safety arrangements are suitable for 
different ways of working 

  

KB / HD Ensure system clear and people up to date for when members of 
staff test positive 

Circulated to managers Review as circumstances change 

Digital Transformation 

CB Provide full conference facilities which allow for combination of 
face to face and virtual attendees at meetings 

ICT looking at QER to spec any 
work and additional equipment 
needed, with cost implications 
 

Will require a capital bid 

CB Improve wifi in office buildings so it is suitable for needs of users Currently looking to increase 
internet feed into SH (end Jan) 
 
Market now sorted 
Willows Lane OK 
 
Broadway – limited as to feed 
into building 
 

Review provision once internet feed 
increased 

CB Continue to work with services to support roll out of improved 
systems which support efficiencies and mobile working 

Covered by IT Strategy  

CB Ensure data security arrangements are robust Covered by IT Strategy 
 
Collating info re remote working 
arrangements eg from cafes 

 P
age 58



Smart Working Strategy Action Plan 
 

 
 

 

CB Provide increased network space to align with service plans to 
store documents digitally 

Covered by IT Strategy 
 

 

CB Renew / update hardware as laptops etc come to end of life Covered by IT Strategy 
 

 

Buildings 

HMM / KB / 
CB 

Structured method needed to monitor office occupancy and know 
who is physically present in the office on given days, especially 
directors and heads of service. 

Service managers to have rotas 
for teams 
Ask CMT to share their weekly 
plans 
Reinforce need for staff to use 
outlook calendars – KB to 
discuss with CB 

 

HMM / CB / 
MB 

Ensure we have appropriate “housekeeping” processes, ensuring 
that documents are not kept at home except when necessary (and 
secure) and that unnecessary paperwork / filing cabinets etc are 
removed 

  

HMM Consider the best use of our property assets to best 
accommodate employees etc, considering costs of repairs and 
maintenance 

Actions and timescales to be 
determined 

 

Other 

KB Where possible, align actions with work to support Climate 
Change 

Liaise with climate change 
group 

 

 

KB – Kirsten Burnett, Head of Policy and Organisational Development HMM – Regeneration and Development Manager 
CB – Head of ICT HD – Head of Environmental Health 
MB – Head of Audit and Investigations PF – Safety and Emergency Planning Officer 

 

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 09 February 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources  

REPORT AUTHOR: Kirsten Burnett, Head of Policy and Organisational 
Development 

TITLE OF REPORT: Self-Isolation Pilot Programme – Acceptance of 
Funding 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek formal approval to enter into relevant legal agreements to release funding. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet grants approval to the Head of Policy and OD to sign the funding 

agreement with Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council in relation to the project, and 
subsequently with Hyndburn Leisure and Hyndburn and Ribble Valley CVS. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 

3.1 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council is the lead authority in receipt of 2.5 million 
pounds of funding from the Department of Health and Social Care for the delivery of 
the Self Isolation Pilot Programme.  They are leading the Programme on behalf of the 
Upper Tier and District Authorities from whom proposals have been received for 
individual projects to support individuals through self-isolation resulting from Covid 19. 

3.2 The Council was invited to put a proposal forward for a Self-Isolation Pilot Programme 
in Autumn 2021 and has recently been notified that the funding for this has been 
approved, subject to reaching a formal legal agreement to accept the funding, which 
outlines the Council’s obligations in respect of the project.  The amount of funding 
which would be awarded to the Council is £54,540. 

 
3.2 The Council’s proposal, which the funding would allow to be implemented, covers 3 

main strands: 
 

(i) Producing marketing assets aimed at young people around self-isolation:  
Current information regarding isolation is readily available but not engaging for 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8.



 

young people or created with them in mind.  To have an impact we have learnt 
engagement work is key, but better tools and resources could reach people in a 
way that counts.  The Council will procure external support to create new assets, 
including using “gamification” methods to increase participation and engagement. 

 
(ii) The delivery of an “Isolation Station extension” project via Hyndburn Leisure: 

this will allow people to engage in activities which create a more positive self-isolation 
experience, and will learn new ways to build activity and healthy eating into their 
lifestyle.  Hyndburn Leisure will provide and promote free access to Hyndburn’s 
Mywellness App, providing on demand activity classes and bespoke exercise sessions.   

 
(iii) Grant scheme via Hyndburn and Ribble Valley CVS: this scheme aims to support 

Voluntary & Community Sector organisations to expand or deliver new services to 
increase engagement with young people and people with a learning difficulty and to 
demonstrate their ability to react flexibly, at pace, to support the Hyndburn community.  
It will deliver £15,000 funding to be distributed via a grant scheme to VCS 
organisations who will deliver activities to engage and support teenagers and young 
adults with positive lifestyle activities. 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council could choose not to accept the funding and not deliver the projects 

outlined above. 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Hyndburn Leisure and Hyndburn and Ribble Valley CVS have been consulted and are 

happy to deliver parts of the project, subject to a formal funding agreement with the 
Council. 

 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

Agreement by Cabinet will enable the Council 
to accept funding of £54,540. 
 
Subsequent agreements with Hyndburn 
Leisure and CVS will include the transfer of 
some of this funding for delivery of two 
aspects of the overall project, as detailed 
within the report. 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The acceptance of funding will require the 
Council to sign a legal agreement with 
Blackburn with Darwen Council, which will set 
out the Council’s obligations and liabilities.  
The Executive Director (Legal and 
Democratic) is providing advice. 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

The Council will only release funding to 
Hyndburn Leisure and HRCVS on completion 

Page 62



 

of an agreement to be drawn up by the 
Council’s legal team.  This will set out clear 
responsibilities for those parties in line with 
the Council’s own obligations as funding 
recipient. 
 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

The funding has been specifically allocated to 
support engagement and wellbeing activities 
with young people and people with a learning 
difficulty, as they have been identified as 
groups who current engagement may be 
failing to reach in a meaningful way.  The 
projects will therefore support the Council’s 
equality objectives. 

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None 

 

Page 63

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Cabinet
	4. Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups
	6. Quantity Restrictions - Hackney Carriage Vehicles
	Appendix 1 - Survey Analysis
	Appendix 2 - Responses from the Trade
	Appendix 3 - Police Response
	Appendix 4 - Suggested Policy Amended Wording
	Appendix 5 - Customer First Analysis

	7. Smart Working Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Draft Smart Working Strategy

	8. Self-Isolation Pilot Programme - Acceptance of Funding

